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1. Name

historic Marshall Piace Historic District

and/or common

2. Location

street & number —— not for publication
#1 o
city, town Webster Groves __ vicinity of congressional district Hon, William Clay
state Missouri code 29 county St. Louls code 189
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_X_ district - public _X_occupied ___agriculture ——— Museum
— building(s) _X. private ——— unoccupied _X_commercial — park
— Structure — both —— work in progress —— educationat X private residence
—— Site Pubiic Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
—._ Object —— in process —X_ yes: restricted —— government —- SClentific
—.. being considered —— yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
% NA —— O — military — Other:

4. Owner of Property

name 1.John H, Auble IV

street & number 55 Marshall Piace

city, town WebsTer Groves, — vicinity of state Mo. 53119

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Recc~der of Deeas, St, Louis County Government Zenter

street & number 7900 Forsyth Bivd,

Clayton, Miszouri 53105

city. town state

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

4
[
tile "me Syiici-c Art in St. loulis: Two has this property been determined elegitie® ____yes X no

centuries
vate 1987 —— federai .___state ___ county X lccal

depository ‘or survey records  published: American institute o7 Archivects, £+, Lcuis Chapter

sy .
. . Missouri
city. 'own  -1. LOuis state o0



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

— excellent — deteriorated ____ unaltered —X_original site
X%~ good — ruins X altered — moved date
—. fair — unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The proposed Marshall Place Historic District contalns twenty«flve houses, four com-
mercial buildings and a former ratlroad statton. One of the commercial buildings must
be classified as an intrusion, having replaced an hlstoric buillding in the eariy 1950's,
but the remaining structures are all of historic significance, ranging in date from
1865 to 1935 and in style from |taltanate and Queen Anne to Cdlontal Revival,

The growth of this district hinged on the establishment of a rallroad station where
North Gore crossed the tracks of the Missourt Pacific Railroad, The present station,
constructed in 1904, sits at the southeast corner of that intersection (photo 1}, It is
a long, bne-story gabled structure approached by a broad hipped porte~cochere, The
building -is rock-face ashlar to the window sitls, red brick above, A row of large
ashlar blocks forms a contlnuous band around the building at Ilintel level, Facing the
tracks, a secondary gable surmounts a. shallow ell, Stylisttczaity, the building is a
blendlng of influences from H,H, Richardsen*s stations of the 1880'5, Richard Norman
Shaw's early Queen Anne work, and fthe inciptent Pralrie and craftsman styles, The
buiiding has been operated as a clothing store since 1965 and is now separated from the
tracks by a black-painted chain link fence. The adaptation of the bullding to its
present use included the addition of a caboose to the south side of the building,

Heading north on North Gore toward Marshail Place ttself, one first passes on the

" right a one-story brick and concrete~hlock automoblle repair facillty dating from the
1950's. Beyond this are two structures from the 18390%'s, whlle across the streev at the
corner of North Gore and Pacific fs the ¢, 1880 former Prehn Grocery, now Morgner Heat-
ing and Air Conditioning (photo 2), It is a twowstory brick structure with a tipped
roof and segmen?al -arched two-over-two windows, The shop~front, largely original, is
recessed in the corner of the buridfng behind a castwiron column, The siightly newer

buildings at 58 and 60 North Gore, flanking the entrance to Marshall Place, are also fwo~- -

story brick sturctures but with flat roofs, Both buildings are adapted to sloping sites,
and both have altered shopfronts, The Brockman Bullding at #58 has been painted but
retains star clamps for its tie rods between floors, The Schulz-McMillan Buiiding at
#60 (photo 3) has not been painted; it has a large palnted sign at one corner, "Rolling
Ridge " as well as vestiges of earller signs on its west wall, Its roof parapet has

~+pedimented section with corbeiled supports, and along Its norTh side is a lower sec-
flon with a matching but smaller feature, .d

The genera! appearance of Marshall Place Is an important part of its historical
character. The houses do not adhere to a regular setback along the length of the street,
but vary according to thelr date and the lay of the land, Shading the yards are large
trees, predominantly oaks, many of them predating the subdivision of the land, These
trees become a forest on the north slde of the street where the ground descends to a small
streambed and Kirkham Avenue., The bucoilc aspect of the street Is relnforced by the
absence of curbs, allowing the pavement to merge wlth the lawns on both sldes,

The earliest houses on Marshall Place are all frame, In contrast to the brick houses
being built in St. Louis at that time., The Gerould House, 23 Marshali Place (photo 5},
a two sfory, three bay structure with a rear wing, I+s brackefed cornice returns on the
gable ends. A continuous second-story balcony ts formed by the roofs of the porch In
front of the center door and the flanking flrst-floor bay windows, an unusual arrangement
that appears to have been modified at the turn of the century, The Willtam D, Butler
House at 5 Marshall Place (phofo4), by contrast, s Victorian Gothic., Its hipped roof
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8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

—._ prehistoric ____ archeclogy-prehistoric _X_ community planning __. . landscape architecture __.... religion

e 1400-1489 _____ archeoclogy-historic ____ conservation — law —_science

wm 1600-1589 ____ agriculture — economics — literature — sculpture

— - 1600~1699 _X__ architecture .. education — military . social/

e 17001799 ____art — engineering — music humanitarian

% 18001898 ___ commerce — exploration/settlement ____ philosophy — theater

- 1900~ —_ ¢communications —— industry —_ politics/government  __.__ transportation
—invention - — other (specify)

Specific dates |350-1935 Builder/Architect Various

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Marshall Place and the adjacent buildings on North Core constitute a well-preserved
microcosm of the nineteenthwcentury commuter suburb, The proposed historic district
includes the commuter station itself, three commerctal buildings built by residents of
this street, and houses ranging in date from the 186Q's to the 1930's (with the major-
ity in the 1880's and 1890's} that were built and occupied both by commuters and by
local businessmen, These men were l|eaders in the community, helping fo found the school
district, the first local bank, and several local churches; the first mayor of Webster
Groves also lived here,’ '

Marshall Place is part of the original subdivision of Webster Groves, platted by
John C. Marshall tn 1860,2 Marshall had come to this area from Fairfax, Virginia,
around 1832 with his brother James, Together they owned all the land now bounded by
Lockwood Avenue {scuth}l, Bompart (eastl, Rock Hill Road (west) and Llitszinger (north).
James Marshall's house "Fairfax" still stands at 9430 Manchester Road in Rock Hill,
The Pacific Railroad purchased a right-cfwway through the southern part of this tract
in 1851, and the line, which was eventually to reach from St, Louis to Jefferson City and
the west, opened as far as Kirkwood in 1853, The ¥Webster College for Boys" was just
then preparing to open part of Marshali's land (it is now the Edgewood Children's
Center at North Gore and Rock HI | Roadl), and this prompted the railroad o add a
"Webster" station to the line, Around the staticon gradually grew the settlement that
became Webster Groves, John Marshall was capiftalizing on this growth when he laid out
his subdivision, .

Civic spirit was shown in the new settlement even by those owners whose financial
interests were primarily in the city, James Martling, for example, taught at The St.
Louis public hignh school, but in his two years as resident of 56 Marshali Place he helped
to found the Webster Groves Congregational Church (1866) and aiso served a year as
trustee for the 3aptist Church. Charles Howe, who bought Mart!ing's house, aiso worked
downtfown, as a piano tuner, He was one of fifteen men who founded the Webster Groves
school system in 1868, Flve of the fifteen were connected with Marshall Place: William
C. Butler (5 Marshail Placel, principal of the Jefferson Scheooi in St, Louis; Henry Prehn,

wno iived over his store at 49 North Gore and later moved to 11 Marshall Place; John Keller,

who died fThat same year in a small house on Lot 30 {the house was subsequentiy moved fo
22 Hull St,); and Martin L, Gerould, a physician who bought Lot 29 the year after the
first schoo! meeting and subsequently built the fine house at 25 Marshall Place. Gerould
served on the school boarda from 1871 to 1879, ’

The 3t+~raction of Wehster Groves to commuters declined considerably after 1870, when

the Miszsouri Pacific Ratiroad adopted a policy designed to discourage them. Fares were
increassd arbitrarily, and sometimes the trains refused to stop at Webster Station at
ali, wiitiam O. Butler was one who gave up and moved back to the city. By 1280, tThe

rajlrnac was under new management and commuting was again practical, One new residant



9. Major Bibliographical References

1. Gill, McCune. Webster Groves. St. Louis: The Title Insurance Corporation
of St. Louis, nd, (1949).

10. Geographical Dafa

15.5 acres more or less

Acreage of nominated property
Quadrangle name _"..ebster Groves, Mo, = [}1." Quadrangle scale _1: 24,000
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Verbal boundary deseription and justification

Beginning at the NW corner of the intersectton of Marshall Place and Eim Avenue,
which is the SE corner of Lot 31 of John Marshall's Subdivision, thence N

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namestitte 1 .E5iey Hamilten

$t. Louis County Dept, of Parks and Rec, August, 1283

organization 1ate

streat & number 1723 Mason Road tetephone (314) 522-8475
i is i i 63131

city or town St. Louis ctate Missouri 6315

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated signiticance of this property within the state is:

— national — state __2(__ local

As ihe designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inciusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Heritage Copservation and Recreation Service.

State Mistoric Preservation Officer signature a,
Director, Department of Natural Resources - e

ttie and State Historic Preservation Officer e R
For ACRS use only o TR ‘
t hereby certify that this property is included in the National Register :
: ' date S
Keepsr ot the National Register L B
Attest; ' o - :° date -

Chief of Registration
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2. Karl E. Blumenhorst 18. Paul Eston Lacy
33 Marshall Place 63 Marshall Place
3. Bernard Becker 19. Tedford Lewis
52 Marshall Place 415 West Kirkham

St. Louis, Mo. 63122
4. Benjamin A. Butler
76 Marshall Place 20. Peter A. Lincoln
41 Marshall Place
5. Carl F. Campbell
39 Marshall Place 21. James F. III1 & Alexander B. McMillan
60 North Gore
6. Carriage Trade Ltd.
50 North Gore 22. Donald S. & Marilyn Morgner
49 North Gore
7. 0Oscar V. Cole
25 Marshall Place 23. Lee Reynolds
18 Marshall Place
8. John Schute
56 Marshall Place 24. Emmett B. Rodenich
41 Marshall Place
g, Peter C. Enslin
11 Marshall Place 25. Marion G. Sandfort, et al
72 Marshall Piace
10. Ernest C. Gerhardt
5 Marshall Place 26. William J. Schmidt
17 Marshall Place
11. Wesley H. & Frances S. Green
69 Marshall Place 27. John B. Streeter, Jr.
34 Marshall Ptlace
12. Robert Schmeer
73 Marshall Place 28. Llorin W. Twigger
60 Marshall Place
13. Gary Jeberg
14 Marshall Place 29. John R. Ure
46 Marshall Place
14, James Otto Juengel
68 Marshall Place 30. May L. Williams
8 Marshall Place
15. Raymond Adams

4421 Pershing 31. Ray W. & Blanche A. Wood
St. Louis, Mo. 63119 1186 Briarhurst
for 28 Marshall Place Manchester, Mo. 63011

for 58 North Gore
16. C. Harvey Kassebaum
39 Godwin Lane
3+. Louis, Mo. 63124
for 44 North Gore

17. Serald & Nancy E. Klemm
24 Marshall Place



s

FHR-8-300 {11-783)

United States Department of the Interior
Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory-——Nomination Form
' MARSHALL PLACE HISTORIC DISTRICT
Continuation sheet ltem number ¢

2. Missouri State Historical Survey
1980 State
Department of Natural Resources
Historic Preservation Program
P.0. Box 176
Jefferson City Missouri 65102




EMR-8-300 {11-78)

United States Department of the Interior
Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
MARSHALL PLACE HISTORIC DISTRICT
Continuation sheet ltem number  /

once supported a widow's walk, but it also has off-center gables on both south and east
sides; these gables have concave sides and are set over porthole attic vents and round

headed second-story windows, A third house in the styte of this period is the William
Campbel| House at 55 Marshall Place {(photo 9), but it can only be dated back as far as
1885. It has a cross-gable composition with a one-story porch across the front and two
bays of the east side., Its Victorian appearance derives from the shaped porch posts, two-

over-two windows, window surrounds with cornice moldings, bay window on west side, and
double paneled entry doors with etched glass.,

The house at 72 Marshali Place (photo 12) began about 1870 as an L-shaped board-and-
batten cottage of one story in a vernacular style deriving from pattern-books such as
A.J. Downing's Cottage Architecture. The porch In the angle of the L has been enclosed,
and about 1900 a U-shaped addition was made foward the sftreet with a segmental-arched
porch across *the recessed central section.

Two houses which have been dated to the 1860's now have the appearance of the 1880's,
Both 46 and 56 Marshail Place (photos 8 and 10) have complex roof structures, shingied
gables in front and on one side, hips on another side, and both have hip-roofed porches

extending across the front and around the east side, The porch of the Nelson Merrill House
(#46) has turned posts and jigsaw brackets, while the porch of the James Martling House
has square posts with capitai-like moldings and fireze.

Six other Queen Anne houses on Marshall Place are closely related To each ofher in pian.
Each has a high gable roof with a secondary pedimented gable projecting over a front-
facing two-story bay window. Each has (or had) a hipped front porch roof and a secondary
bay window toward the rear on one side. The earliest of these houses are 63 (photo 11) and
63 Marshal! Piace, buiit in 1887 as rental properties by Lucien R, Blackmer, Number 63 has
been subjected to aluminum siding while #69 has lost I+s porch. In 1892, Blackmer may
have aiso buiit two houses directly across the street, #60 and #68. These two houses have
enclcsad porches dating from an early period, At both 33 and 39 Marshalt Place, sleeping
porches have been added to the east side of the second floor, supported by tall wooden
nosts. The front porch of #39 (photo 6) is perhaps the best preserved of these with tus-
can columns, baiustrade with turned balusters, and a latficework screen below the floor.

SJther Queen Anne houses similar to these in massing and detailing are the Bredell-
tarsan Youss at 23, constructed 1890; the Edward H. Lehman House, #34, 1888; the Jesson-
Dawson House, #14, =. i898; and the Warren-Kendrick House, #52, 1899. The house builf by
Matnias Jesscn HjorT in 1888 or 1981 at 18 Marshall Place is also simiiar but reduced in
scale *o orn= and a half svories,

la 1503, -enry Prehn sui!t two nhouses at 11 and 17 Marshall Place that combine the
front oorches and irregular massing of the Queen Anne styla with more regular and classi-
callv-derived details from the increasingly popular Colonial or Georgian Revivai. The
center dormer 2t #11, for instance, has a palladian window, At #17, this colonializing
tendancy has been taken even farther by a recent owner, who has added false shuttars and

ar, ¢22la in the gable of the porch.
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Mary E. Bullock and her husband are sald to have bulit #8 in 1911 after a frip fo
California, where they had seen some of the fine bungalows then new in +hat state.
Number 76 Marshall Place is a simpler house from the same years that has the typical
bungaloid shed-roof dormer and lean-to porch roof, By 1920, however, the Colonial Re-
vival had taken over, and the last houses on Marshall Place are in that styte. The
Leroy Davis House at #41, built in 1920, s a good example (photo 7). |Its facade looks
symmetrical without being so, since a fwo-story verandah wing at the west end of the house
has been enclosed. The main part of the house has thrse bays on the first floor buf four
on +he second. The first-floor windows have narrowsidel tghts, while the second-f|oor
windows are shuttered. The central door issheltered by an aedicule-like portico, The
tast house on the street was the James McMillan House at 73 Marshall Place built in 1935.
I+ is a one-and-a-half-story cottage reflecting the influence of the Williamsburg restor-
ation, with its low lines, small-paned windows, and narrow dormers,
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at that time was William Campbell, a traveling salesman for Samuel C, Davis and
Company. He built an outstanding house at 55 Marshall Place in 1884 and a decade later
added numbers 33 and 39 for two of his daughters; 47 Marshall Place was builf for his
grandson as late as 1924. Lucien R. Blackmer, another downfown businessman, built a
big house on Lot 35 in 1883; when it burned down in 1891 he replaced it with fwo rental
houses (#60 and #68) tike the two across the street (#63 and #69) which he had put up
in 1887.

Although primarily a residential community, Webster Groves had an economic life,
t+oo, and many of the early merchants |ived on Marshall Place, including all four of
t+hose whose businesses were located on North Gore (originally Church) between the
station and Marshall Place, Henry Prehn was one of the first,? He was born in Germany
in 1833 and came to Webster in 1857, He opened a grocery and dry-goods sfore at the
corner of Pacific and Church in 1867. It burned about 1880 and was replaced by the
present sturcture. In 1900 Prehn helped to found the city's first bank, now the Webster
Groves Trust Company.4 In 1903, he finally left the flat over the sfore for his new
house at 11 Marshall Place. He died in 1913, but his children continued to operate the
store intc the 1920's. Fred, his son and partner, lived at 17 Marshall Piace, which
had been buiit at the same time as #11, while sons William and Walter rented #6S and #63.

Henry Schulz started a feed and grain business at 60 North Gore in 1893. The build-
ing was designed so that the top floor could be used as a warehouse, and the big grain
wagons did double duty in moving and storage. In 1909, Schulz moved from Big Bend Blvd.
to 60 Marshali Place. His younger daughter Harriet married James McMillan, and they
built 73 Marshall Pilace in 1935, the last house on the block. In 1959 they converted
the feed store building to the Rolling Ridge Nursery, which is now owned by their sons,
The building on the opposite corner, 58 North Gore, was The home of C. Brockman Company;
buggies and wagons were made on the second floor, white blacksmithing was done on the
. first. About 1920 Charles SBrockman's son Ed built the house at 76 Marshall Place,
right behind the store.

The house at 72 Marshall Place contains the L-shaped board-and-batten cottage that
John Winsiow Srannon probabiy lived in from 1870 to 1872, whiie he was constructing a
targe building at 50 North Sore, It housed a saloon on the first floor, a residence
for his family on +he second, and a large meeting hail on the third. The salcon fig-
ured in Webster Groves history as the place where the robbery of Bertram Atwater was
plotted. Three thieves accosted Atwater, a visltor they had seen descending from the
train, and in the scuffle both the victim and one of his assailants were killed. This
incident so alarmed the citizens that they decided to incorporate in order to provide
adequate prolice proteztion.

Anen incorpcration tcok place in 1896, the courts appointed W.S. Flemming as tne

first mayor. He had come 2ut from St. Louis in 1894 and iived at 68 Marshall Place.
After his first term, Flemming was elected to four additional! terms. Later, Marshall

S)sce zcontributed another subiic official to the city; J. Ralph Eddie, who lived at
475, hme served as Fire Chief from 1917 +o 1950 and during some of that +ime was street
commissicner as well.
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In summary, it can be said that, Ilke mos? early suburbs, Marshall Place owed its
early existance to the raiiroad,” |t offered a refuge from the dlsorder of the old
city, but it was not exempt from problems of its own, 1T needed schools, churches,
police protection and eventually municipal government, and its residents met these
needs forthrightly. Likewise, Marshall Place was nof isolated from scenes of labor;
shops and businesses were Just a brief walk down the street, and their owners and
employees were neighbors. "As soon as The motor car became common, the pedestrian
scale of the suburb disappeared, and with it, most of its individuality and charm,”
Fortunately, by that time Marshall Place and most of Webster Groves had already estab-
|ished a character which they have not yet lost. In 1977, the Webster Groves Histor-
ical Society held a celebration on Marshall Place, henoring it as a "Century Street,"
in an attempt to draw attention to the signficance of some of the individual houses
and of the street as a whole. That effort contributed to a stabilization of property
values and better care for some of the houses, and it also provided the basis for this
nomination.

FOOTNOTES

1. The authority for most names and dates in this nomination is the pamphief
Marshall Place, 1977 Century Street (Webster Groves Historical Scciety, 1977),
i+s authors were Ann Morris and Ann Edwards,

2. General histories of Webster Groves include Clarissa Start, Webster Groves
(City of Webster Groves, 1975); McCune Gili, Webster Groves (St. lLouis: The
Title Insurance Corporation of St, Louis, c.1949); and Marilyn Bradley, Acres
and Arpens (Webster Groves, 1975).

T, Gili, p. 6,

4, 1977 Century Street, p. 13; Gill, p.8

5. iLewis Mumford, The City in History (london: Secker & Warburg, 1961), p. 492.

6. tbid, p. 595.
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2. McCue, George. The Building Art in St. Louis. St. Louis: American Institute
of Architects, 1967, p. 95. (The Station).

3. Mendelson, Robert, et al. Community Harmony: The Reuse of Ordinary Structures.
Edwardsville, I11inois: Southern [11inois University, 1980, p. 106.

4. (Morris, Ann). 1977 Century Street. Webster Groves Historical Society, 1977.

5. Start, Clarissa. Webster Groves. City of Webster Groves, 1975.

6. Webster Real Estate Company. Webster, Queen of the Suburbs. np, nd (c. 1892).
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295 ft. to NE corner of property now owned by St. Louis County; thence 281 ft. SE along
N 1ine of property now owned by St. Louis County and Ernest C. & M.B. Gerhardt

to NE 1ine of Lot 30; of said subdivision; thence NW 45 ft, to N 1ine of property
now owned by Peter C. & E.P. Enslin (S part of E half of Lot 30; thence SW

66 ft. to midline of Lot 30; thence NW to S edge of Kirkham Ave. and N edge of
Marshall's Subdivision; thence SW 197 ft. to NE 1ine of Lot 28; thence SE 249.37 ft.
to N line of property now owned by Karl Blumenhorst (S part of E half of Lot 28);
thence SW along said line and its continuation through lots 28, 27 and 26 to

NE line of Lot 25; thence SW 12.9 ft. to a point 200 ft. NE of the Marshall Place
right-of-way 264 ft. to NE line of Lot 23; thence SW 50 ft.; thence SW at
approximately right angles 157 ft. 5 inches to the middle line of Gore Avenue

(60 ft. wide) thence SE along this Tine to a point opposite the NW edge of
property forming the SE corner of Lot 22; thence SW 62.5 ft.; thence NW

25,99 ft.; thence SW 20.5 ft.; thence SE 74.70 ft. to middle 1ine of Pacific Ave.
(40 ft., wide); thence E along Pacific Avenue back to Gore; thence SE along the
middle line of Pacific Avenue back to Gore; thence SE along the middle line of
Gore Avenue to the S line of property now owned by C. Harvey Kassebaum and
formerly owned by the Missouri Pacific Railroad, and including the former

Webster Groves Railroad Station; thence E along the S 1ine of this property

and N along the £ line of this property and continuing across the railroad
right-of-way to the S edge of Lot 36; thence E along S edge of Lots 36 and 35

to line between lots 35 and 34; thence NW along that line to the line separating
Marshall Place and Pacific Avenue frontages of Lot 34; thence NE along this

line and its continuation dividing Lot 33 from Lot 32, later subdivided by Hans
Brendall; thence NW along that line to its junction with the SE 1ine of Lot 1

of Hans Bredall's Subdivision of Lot 32 of John Marshall's Subdivision; thence

NE alon: this line and its continuation along Lots 2, 3, 4 and 5 to the W edqe

of Elm Avenue; thence along this edge to the point of beginning.
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MARSHALL PLACE HISTORIC DISTRICT
St. Louis, Missouri

U.5.G.5. 7.5' Quadrangle
Scale: 1:24,000 (1954-rev,
"l{ebster Groves, Mo." 1974)

UTM REFERENCES:

A. 15/730220/4275290
8. 15/730360/4275130
C. 15/730000/4274800
C. 15/729855/4274940
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